





Clean Water and Drinking Water State Revolving Funds

DEBT MANAGEMENT POLICY

Effective: October 3, 2017

Prepared by:

The Division of Financial Assistance

State Water Resources Control Board State of California

Effective: October 3, 2017

This page intentionally left blank.

Clean Water and Drinking Water State Revolving Funds DEBT MANAGEMENT POLICY

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	TOPIC	<u>PAGE</u>
I.	Background	1
II.	Objective	1
III.	Authorities	2
IV.	Staff Roles – State Water Board	3
V.	Staff Resources – State Water Board	4
VI.	Selection & Role of Consultants	5
VII.	Credit Ratings and Investor Relations	7
VIII.	Type of Sale	8
IX.	Structure of Bond Issues	8
Х.	Refunding Opportunities	. 9
XI.	Escrow Structuring	. 10
XII.	Prepayments	. 10
XIII.	Economies of Scale	. 11
XIV.	Reporting Requirements	. 11
XV.	Disclosure	11

TABLE OF CONTENTS (continued)

XVI.	Regulatory and Tax Compliance	11
XVII.	Permissible Types of Debt for Financing Programs	12
XVIII.	Entering the Market	12
XIX.	Financing Strategy	13
XX.	Board Reservation of Authority	18
XXI.	List of Acronyms	19

Appendices

- A. POST-ISSUANCE TAX COMPLIANCE POLICY FOR TAX-EXEMPT BOND ISSUES
- B. PRE- & POST-ISSUANCE ACTIVITIES RELATED TO REVENUE BONDS

I. Background

The State Water Resources Control Board (State Water Board) was created in 1967 by merging the state's water rights and water guality authority, and in 2014 the state's drinking water program responsibilities were transferred to the State Water Board to further integrate oversight of California's water issues. The mission of the State Water Board is to preserve, enhance, and restore the quality of California's water resources and drinking water for the protection of the environment, public health, and all beneficial uses, and to ensure proper water resource allocation and efficient use, for the benefit of present and future generations. The State Water Board works together with its nine Regional Water Quality Control Boards (Regional Water Boards) and its 24 Drinking Water District Offices (District Offices) to protect California's water. The State Water Board's role includes administering several financial assistance programs through its Division of Financial Assistance (DFA), including, but not limited to, the Clean Water State Revolving Fund (CWSRF) and the Drinking Water State Revolving Fund (DWSRF). DFA can use the CWSRF to finance a broad variety of water quality protection and improvement projects, and it can use the DWSRF to provide financing supporting public water systems.

II. Objective

The primary purpose of the Clean Water and Drinking Water State Revolving Funds (SRF) Debt Management Policy (Debt Policy) is to provide guidelines for the issuance and management of the State Water Board's CWSRF and DWSRF debt. Additionally, the Debt Policy describes the on-going monitoring and reporting associated with SRF debt obligations. This framework is intended to allow the State Water Board and its staff to make informed and sound debt management decisions; achieve favorable borrowing costs with prudent levels of risk; maintain a sensible debt position; and preserve the credit quality of its bonds.

The elements of the Debt Policy are not goals or a list of rules to be applied to the State Water Board's debt issuance; rather, these policies are tools to assist with successful long term SRF debt management and to ensure that adequate financial, staffing, and professional service resources are available to support the State Water Board's SRF programs. This Debt Policy will guide the State Water Board staff in the following:

- Evaluating the role of debt in the funding capacity of the SRF programs and its influence on meeting the goals and priorities of the programs;
- Evaluating debt issuance options;
- Promoting sound financial management of the SRFs' portfolios and assets, and protecting and enhancing their credit ratings;
- Providing accurate and timely information, as needed, to the State Water Board and stakeholders on conditions in the public debt markets and their potential effects on the SRF programs;
- Providing accurate and timely information to the investor community on matters related to the State Water Board's capital program and financial status;
- Ensuring the legal and prudent use of bonds through an effective system of financial security and internal controls.

The Debt Policy will be applied in conjunction and consistent with the CWSRF and DWSRF Policies and the Intended Use Plans (IUPs), but does not supersede these Policies or IUPs.

III. Authorities

A. State Water Board

The State Water Board is authorized pursuant to Chapter 6.5 of Division 7 (commencing with Section 13475) of the Water Code to use moneys in the CWSRF for purposes permitted by the federal Clean Water Act. (33 U.S.C., § 1251 *et seq.*)

In addition, the State Water Board is authorized under the Safe Drinking Water State Revolving Fund Law of 1997 (commencing at Section 116760 of Division 104 of the Health and Safety Code) to use monies in the DWSRF for the purposes permitted in the federal Safe Drinking Water Act. (42 U.S.C., § 300j *et seq.*)

Both statutory frameworks authorize the State Water Board to use SRF assets to secure revenue or general obligation bonds that will be deposited into the respective SRFs to fund additional clean or drinking water projects.

B. California Infrastructure Bank (IBank)

IBank serves as a conduit issuer for the State Water Board's SRF revenue bonds. IBank is an entity within the Governor's Office of Business and Economic Development, organized and existing pursuant to Division 1 of Title 6.7 of the California Government Code (commencing at Section 63000). IBank is authorized to issue bonds, to lend the bond proceeds to the State Water Board, to secure the bonds by a pledge of assets, and to enter into a master payment and pledge agreement, pursuant to a current indenture and master trust indenture.

C. State Treasurer

The State Treasurer is required by section 5702 of the Government Code to be the agent for sale on all State bond issues. The duties include, among other things, establishing the timing of the sale, selecting underwriters for negotiated sales, and executing the bond purchase agreement on behalf of State agencies. To fulfill these duties, the Public Finance Division within the State Treasurer's Office (STO) reviews bond sale documentation, evaluates the bond financing structure, reviews and approves underwriter fees, participates in pricing discussions, and provides technical resources as needed. State Water Board staff should coordinate with the State Treasurer's Office regarding these duties as they relate to the CWSRF and DWSRF bonds.

As set forth in the Master Trust Indenture, the State Treasurer is designated as the trustee and paying agent for the SRF Bonds. As trustee, the State Treasurer is responsible for ensuring that debt service payments are paid timely to bondholders. The State Treasurer also serves as custodian and administrator of trust accounts established under the Indenture.

Pursuant to the continuing disclosure undertakings for each bond issue, the State Treasurer is designated as dissemination agent. As dissemination agent, the State Treasurer helps the State Water Board comply with its continuing disclosure obligations. This includes providing timely notice to bondholders of certain notice events and providing annual financial information.

IV. Staff Roles – State Water Board

A. Executive Director

The ultimate responsibility for the bonds' management rests with the State Water Board's Executive Director. The Executive Director directs the State Water Board's staff and oversees the engagement and selection of finance professionals, such as bond counsel, financial advisor, and other technical advisors to assist the State Water Board in fulfilling this responsibility.

The State Water Board staff assigned to carry out the responsibilities associated with the bonds is primarily DFA staff, but also includes staff in the Office of Chief Counsel

and the Division of Administrative Services. Duties are carried out cooperatively and include, but are not limited to, the following:

- 1. Determine, in consultation with the Financial Advisor, Bond Counsel, and IBank, the most appropriate structure, terms, conditions and method to sell bonds and make recommendations to the State Water Board about the same.
- 2. Appoint or engage the services of a Financial Advisor, Bond Counsel, and other service providers necessary to successfully complete a bond sale and manage the bonds after their sale.
- 3. Provide for and participate in the preparation and review of all legal, offering, and disclosure documents.
- 4. Oversee the issuance of bonds by the IBank approved by the State Water Board at an advantageous cost consistent with prudent levels of risk.
- 5. Execute and deliver agreements or documents necessary or desirable in connection with issuing bonds.
- 6. In consultation with IBank and Bond Counsel, ensure compliance with any applicable IRS, Securities Exchange Commission (SEC), and Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board (MSRB) rules and regulations.
- 7. In consultation with IBank and Bond Counsel, ensure compliance with covenants and disclosures required by the bonds' legal documents.
- 8. Provide for the timely payment of principal and interest on SRF bonds.
- 9. Monitor refunding opportunities and make appropriate recommendations to the State Water Board.
- 10. Distribute to investors and other appropriate parties information regarding the financial condition and affairs of the SRF programs as required by law, regulation, and general practice, including Rule 15c2-12.
- 11. Distribute pertinent information to credit rating agencies, bond insurers, investment providers, and to the extent necessary, investors and other market participants prior to and subsequent to the issuance of bonds.
- 12. Ensure that bond records are maintained.
- 13. Ensure that prudent fiscal and administrative practices are applied and promoted with respect to the SRF programs and their bonds, including those practices/tasks included in Appendix B to this Debt Policy, entitled "Pre- & Post-Issuance Activities Related to Revenue Bonds."

V. Staff Resources- State Water Board

The State Water Board shall maintain adequate staffing of appropriate classification and obtain external professional services necessary to perform and fulfill all tasks and responsibilities associated with this Debt Policy, including those tasks in Appendix B to this Debt Policy, entitled "Pre & Post-Issuance Activities Related to Revenue Bonds."

The State Water Board shall also support related continuing education and training opportunities for staff. State Water Board staffing capacity and resources necessary to engage and service debt financing must be considered when deciding the frequency, amount and structure of new leveraging transactions.

VI. Selection and Role of Consultants

The Executive Director in cooperation with IBank and STO shall procure the services of or otherwise ensure the involvement of the professionals required to issue, refund, or manage bonds and advise the State Water Board on bond-related matters. Consultants to be utilized in carrying out this Debt Policy include but are not limited to the following.

A. Bond Counsel

In its role as conduit issuer of bonds, IBank selects Bond Counsel for the bond issuance in consultation with the State Water Board. Bond Counsel is the attorney or firm of attorneys that gives the legal opinion delivered with the bonds confirming that the bonds are valid and binding obligations of the issuer and, customarily, that interest on the bonds is exempt from federal and state income taxes. Bond Counsel also prepares resolutions and related bond documents, under which the bonds will be issued and secured. In addition, the State Water Board hires Bond Counsel to perform ongoing services related to the financial assistance programs that are funded in whole or part with revenue bond proceeds. It is understood that much of the legal work that goes into many bond issues and post-issuance surveillance is dominated by tax issues, and the Bond Counsel firm is expected to have specialized tax attorneys. It is expected that the Bond Counsel firm will be nationally recognized.

B. Disclosure Counsel

The Disclosure Counsel is the attorney or firm of attorneys that assists the State Water Board in satisfying the continuing disclosure requirements of Rule 15c2-12 promulgated by the SEC, and effective as to obligations sold on and after July 3, 1995. Additionally, Disclosure Counsel will render a written opinion to the effect that the SRF offering document does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omits to state any material fact necessary to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading. The Disclosure Counsel firm may be the same as the Bond Counsel firm.

C. Financial Advisor

The Financial Advisor assists as the Independent Registered Municipal Advisor (IRMA) to the State Water Board and shall be available to review proposals from underwriters, as requested by the State Water Board. As the IRMA, the Financial Advisor provides recommendations including the type and structure of financing, call, security and credit enhancement features, term of maturity, time and manner of sale, reasonableness of interest costs and other terms and conditions. The Financial Advisor will also consult with the State Water Board staff in analyzing opportunities to refund outstanding debt obligations of the State Water Board as well as assist in the coordination and communication with rating agencies, investors and credit enhancers, if applicable. Finally, the Financial Advisor coordinates efforts with Bond Counsel and the underwriting team charged with the sale of SRF revenue bonds to ensure the agreed upon interest rates are fair and reasonable considering the current market conditions and realizes the goals and objectives of the State Water Board.

D. Underwriters/ Investment Banks/ Lending Institutions

The Underwriter(s)/Investment Bank(s)/Lending Institution(s) assist with each negotiated revenue bond issuance. The primary responsibilities of the underwriters include:

- Providing access to capital through the municipal bond markets or from their balance sheet for funding State Water Board SRF programs;
- Providing structuring advice to maximize effectiveness of State Water Board debt issuance;
- Assisting with a marketing plan, investor outreach and education regarding State Water Board's programs;
- Adhering to the Underwriting Policies and Procedures established by the STO; and
- Complying with applicable laws and regulations
- Providing appropriate certification to document "Issue Price"

Underwriters select their own counsel to review documents, negotiate certain matters, conduct due diligence related to the bond issuance, and advise the underwriter concerning registration requirements of federal and state securities laws.

E. Arbitrage Rebate Consultant

The tax code generally prohibits the State Water Board from issuing tax-exempt bonds if the State Water Board reasonably expects to use the proceeds of such bonds, directly or indirectly, to acquire securities or obligations – including making new SRF loans with a yield materially higher than the yield on such bonds, or to replace funds used to make SRF loans at higher interest rates (or otherwise acquire such higher yielding securities or obligations). If the State Water Board exceeds the arbitrage yield restriction, it must rebate the difference to the IRS. The Arbitrage Rebate Consultant is retained by the State Water Board to perform all required arbitrage calculations, including a calculation of arbitrage liability at least once every five years after issuance, through the final maturity or redemption of a SRF bond issue. The Arbitrage Rebate Consultant will also provide advice and strategies, in consultation with the Financial Advisor and the Bond Counsel, to reduce the net arbitrage rebate liability.

VII. Credit Ratings and Investor Relations

The State Water Board will maintain ratings from [at least two] nationally recognized rating agency firms. Currently, the State Water Board maintains ratings from Moody's, Standard & Poor's, and Fitch.

The Executive Director and appropriate State Water Board staff are responsible for maintaining good working relationships with the credit rating agencies. State Water Board staff shall maintain full disclosure and open lines of communication with the credit rating agencies at all times. In addition, the State Water Board will coordinate with the IBank and be prepared to provide updates to investors, bond insurers, and rating agencies as needed on developments in the SRF programs and at the State Water Board.

The Executive Director and appropriate State Water Board staff are also responsible, to the extent feasible, with fostering good relations with bond investors and the general public. State Water Board staff will coordinate with the IBank, the Underwriters and the Financial Advisor to provide current and potential investors with program information when marketing new bond issues. The State Water Board will also provide updates to investors on new program developments as necessary.

Communication with the credit rating agencies, investors, and the public shall include, but not be limited to:

1. Disclosure of the financial conditions of the SRF programs, including timely dissemination of their annual financial reports.

- 2. As appropriate, presentations to the credit rating agencies, updating them on any aspects of the programs necessary to obtaining a rating.
- 3. Distribution of any documents relevant to the sale of bonds.
- 4. Timely dissemination of information required by the credit rating agencies for their surveillance activities.
- 5. Timely disclosure to the appropriate parties of any information that may affect the bonds' credit ratings, regulatory compliance, or bond commitments.
- 6. To the extent practicable, disclosure of information that may be important to potential investors and the general public.

State Water Board staff shall evaluate at regular intervals in consultation with the IBank and the Financial Advisor the outstanding debt and loan portfolios in an effort to ensure that the State Water Board maintains the strongest credit ratings possible. The State Water Board's goal is to achieve and maintain "AAA" ratings for both of the SRF programs.

VIII. Types of Sale

The IBank, State Treasurer, and Financial Advisor, in consultation with the State Water Board will evaluate and recommend whether a negotiated or a competitive method of sale and/or whether a public offering or a private placement is most suitable for a proposed transaction. Timing, size, program borrower needs, diversity of investment banks to efficiently and effectively sell bonds in institutional and retail markets, program structure and demands, debt service and projected interest rates are to be considered as part of this recommendation. The State Water Board will also consider the cost/benefit for accessing other additional capital, such as the federal Water Infrastructure Finance and Innovation Act (WIFIA) program or short-term financing through the IBank for the purposes of SRF state match, as opportunities arise.

IX. Structure of Bond Issues

A. Term of Bonds

The initial consideration in structuring the term of the program bond issue should be that the term is no longer than the lesser of the useful life of the asset(s) being financed or 30 years. Additionally, the term will be structured in consideration of the term of the composite pledged loan portfolio.

B. Redemption Provisions

Optional redemption provisions should be included to permit the State Water Board to redeem bonds as soon after initial issuance as possible, preferably at 10 years or less,

callable at par, but considering the call option value, the impact on interest rates, and consistency with goals and objectives the State Water Board. The State Water Board should also consider the call dates of the pledged loans to mitigate the risk of misaligned cash-flows.

In May of 2006, Congress enacted the Tax Increase Prevention and Reconciliation Act of 2005 (TIPRA). TIPRA requires that, for all "pooled financing bonds," the issuer must reasonably expect that (i) at least 30% of the net proceeds of the bonds will be used to fund loans within one year of issuance and (ii) 95% of the net bond proceeds will be used to fund loans within three years of issuance. If either origination requirement is not met, then an issuer must redeem, within 90 days of the end of such period, the amount of bonds representing the difference between what was actually loaned and the applicable origination requirement. All pooled financing bonds issued after May 17, 2006, are subject to compliance with these origination requirements. These TIPRA requirements may necessitate the inclusion of mandatory special redemption provisions in bonds issued by the State Water Board, depending on the expected disbursement schedule of proceeds. To date, the State Water Board has avoided inclusion of mandatory special redemption provisions in its bond issues as a result of its prompt expenditure of net bond proceeds, primarily, through reimbursement of prior loan disbursements.

C. Rates

Debt shall be issued at fair and reasonable rates considering the market conditions at the time of issuance. DFA will seek the review and rely upon the recommendation by the STO and the Financial Advisor on the fairness of the interest rates that are bid or negotiated. The underwriter will provide certification as to the Issue Price as defined by the MSRB. It is the State Water Board's intention to issue at the lowest possible cost in consideration of the State Water Board's goals and intentions.

X. Refunding Opportunities

Refunding of outstanding SRF debt should be considered if it provides financial or resource benefits to the SRF programs that will allow them to finance additional projects. Any refunding transactions intended for debt service reduction should be structured to maximize net present value savings and achieve level debt service when appropriate. Timing, market conditions, the composition of the pledged pool of loans, overall program risk as well as resource impacts will be the primary considerations when deciding whether to refund outstanding debt. DFA will consider refunding outstanding debt when the net present value savings is positive, as discussed below. DFA's evaluation of refunding opportunities will include consultation with Bond Counsel, the IBank, and the Financial Advisor.

In evaluating refunding opportunities, DFA will consider the value of the call option to be exercised, including the amount of time to the call date and the amount of time from the call date to maturity. Both the net present value savings and absolute savings will be considered. DFA will also evaluate the costs of issuance related to the present value savings and the current interest rate environment relative to historical trends.

Additionally, DFA staff will analyze the impact of refunding on optimizing the portfolios and achieving the State Water Board's SRF goals. It is the stated goal of the State Water Board to achieve at least a net present value savings, true savings over cost of issuance, of at least 3% for any refunding. However, DFA shall seek no less than a 2% net present value savings, unless such refunding achieves other benefits, such as eliminating restrictive covenants. Refunding transactions might also be considered to achieve other intended goals of the State Water Board including, but not limited to, (1) resolve issues concerning a change of tax status, or (2) a legal restructure. The State Water Board will aim to transact such issues at minimal to no cost for the program.

XI. Escrow Structuring

The State Water Board shall structure escrows to ensure compliance with federal income tax law, applicable regulations and with respect to the permitted investments allowed by state law and the legal documents. Escrows may be invested in permissible securities or cash with a goal to maximize net return with minimal risk. Credit quality and safety of the securities shall be considered

XII. Prepayments

Prepayments from borrowers may be permitted subject to the consent of the Deputy Director of DFA. Such consent is required to ensure prepayments do not jeopardize the State Water Board's ability to satisfy the cash-flows of its existing debt obligations, the ability to issue new debt, ongoing compliance with tax regulations, or retention of its refunding options. Analysis shall include, but not necessarily be limited to, the need or ability to issue additional debt, debt service coverage, source of prepayments, ability to utilize prepayments expeditiously to originate new loans, or pay existing debt service, potential program refunding opportunities, program considerations of potential effects on pledge pools, as well as management of the restricted asset funds and compliance with applicable arbitrage yield restrictions.

XIII. Economies of Scale

Debt financings will be coordinated to the extent practicable so that multiple project needs can be accommodated in a single borrowing, thereby increasing the efficiency of the debt issuance. Given that many issuance costs do not vary significantly with the

size of a borrowing, a large bond issue increases the efficiency of the financing by spreading fixed costs over a greater number of projects.

XIV. Reporting Requirements

The State Water Board shall provide all required financial and other information on each SRF program. This information shall be prepared and reported by program staff in accordance with timelines and requirements of the Master Trust Indenture, any continuing disclosure agreement, and any other related obligations or requirements, including the CWSRF and DWSRF operating agreements, IUPs, and applicable federal and state requirements.

XV. Disclosure

In consultation with Bond Counsel and Disclosure Counsel, staff will regularly review debt activities to ensure that initial and on-going disclosure requirements established under Rule 15c2-12 are maintained as required including the filing of any material event notices and the State Water Board's continuing disclosure undertakings set forth in the Continuing Disclosure Agreement under the Master Trust Indenture and series indentures or supplemental indentures.

XVI. Regulatory and Tax Compliance

The State Water Board, in cooperation with IBank, will comply with all IRS, MSRB, and SEC rules and regulations applicable to the issuance of its bonds.

The staff, under the direction of the DFA Deputy Director, Office of Chief Counsel, and the Executive Director, will implement the written policy in Appendix A to ensure that the SRF programs comply with requirements of federal tax law necessary to preserve the tax-exempt status of interest on tax-exempt obligations issued by State Water Board. This post-issuance tax compliance policy will be reviewed and updated from time to time by DFA and DAS management and the Office of Chief Counsel to maintain its adequacy and effectiveness.

The State Water Board will comply with the requirements of federal regulations and the Master Trust Indenture and series indentures or supplemental indentures, including but not limited to record keeping, filings, expenditure tracking of bond proceeds and arbitrage. Possible non-compliance by borrowers, DFA, or DAS will be reviewed with the Office of Chief Counsel and Bond Counsel for analysis and corrective action, if applicable. Possible corrective actions may include the IRS Tax-Exempt Bonds Voluntary Closing Agreement Program, remedial action, and any other action recommended by the Office of Chief Counsel or by Bond Counsel.

XVII. Permissible Types of Debt for Financing Projects

The following constitute permissible types of debt instruments under this Debt Policy. Other types of debt instruments may be considered by the State Water Board as the need arises.

A. Fixed Rate Debt

Fixed rate debt shall be issued as tax exempt or taxable bonds with a final maturity no longer than 30 years and shall have a call option in consideration of the discussion in Section VII(B) of this Debt Policy. Current interest bonds and term bonds may be used for both new money and refunding transactions, and may be structured to meet investor demand at the time of pricing. Capital appreciation and zero coupon bonds, which typically result in higher interest costs, may be used in limited circumstances after an analysis is performed to determine whether the needs or objectives of a particular financing program can be met only through their use. Funds from one SRF program to secure the other SRF program against default through cross-collateralization may also be employed.

B. Short Term Borrowing Program (including Commercial Paper or Draw-Down Note Program)

Short term borrowing programs may be issued to support eligible CWSRF/DWSRF lending and/or high reimbursement demand on a periodic basis to balance cash-flows as well as to satisfy SRF state match requirements. Shortterm borrowing may also be considered when using funds from one SRF program to help cure a default in the other SRF program through a short-term cross-fund investment.

XVIII. Entering the Market

Cash flow needs, resource availability, and refunding opportunities are the primary factors determining when the State Water Board issues debt. After an analysis of borrower demand and cash flow are completed, and it is determined that cash flow is projected to be insufficient to meet existing and upcoming commitments, staff will seek State Water Board approval and develop a plan to enter the market and issue bonds. Timing is critical and staff must monitor economic indicators, in coordination with the IBank and Financial Advisor, to determine the appropriate time to enter the market. The State Water Board will also consider advice from the Financial Advisor as to market conditions and optimal timing.

XIX. Financing Strategy

The State Water Board's financing strategy must integrate and balance the funding capacity of the SRF programs, the staff resources available and necessary to manage the SRF programs, and the demand for SRF funding in a way that protects the long-term finances of the program while achieving the best water quality outcomes possible. Based on the programs' funding capacities, staff resources, and the State Water Board's guidance, DFA shall establish annual funding targets in consultation with the Financial Advisor that will ensure the perpetuity of the SRF programs while balancing the near-term and long-term funding capacities of the programs and the near-term and long-term water related objectives of the State Water Board. The funding targets shall be used as the basis for planning and analysis performed annually as part of the Intended Use Plans. An annual funding target will also help manage demand from applicants, especially in circumstances where funding requests exceed the funding capacities of the SRF programs.

A. Funding Capacity

The funding capacities of the programs are based on financial modeling done in cooperation with the Financial Advisor that considers the original capital contributions (Corpus Funds)¹ and earnings² as well as the leveraging capacity of the SRFs through the sale of revenue bonds or other debt instruments. When evaluating the funding capacities of the SRF programs, variables should be selected based on historical experience, and assumptions and future estimates should tend to be conservative. A funding capacity analysis should be performed regularly – at least once per year – for each program in coordination with the development of the Intended Use Plans. The funding capacity analysis shall consider a range of inputs to evaluate possible outcomes to ensure the perpetuity of the SRFs and evaluate the tradeoffs between near-term and long-term SRF funding capacity.

1. Leveraging Capacity

The leveraging capacities of the SRF programs through the sale of revenue bonds or other debt instruments shall be considered in the overall funding capacity of the SRF programs. The SRF programs' leveraging capacity analyses shall be performed regularly –at least once per year – for each program in coordination with the development of the Intended Use Plans.

¹ "Corpus Funds" means the sum total of federal and State contributions to the respective DWSRF or CWSRF, namely federal capitalization grants from USEPA and associated State Match from such sources as general obligation bond proceeds, local match, etc.

² The earnings of the DWSRF and CWSRF constitute interest paid on loans by funding recipients plus investment interest of the funds.

Leveraging capacity modeling should ensure that the Corpus Funds are protected and that retained earnings are sufficient to meet the perpetuity requirement of the programs.

a. Debt Limitations

For the purposes of modeling and analyzing the SRF programs' leveraging capacity, the maximum level of indebtedness of the SRF programs shall be affected by the following objectives:

- i. The available pledged revenue streams and rate covenants or additional bond tests contained in the bond documents, including minimum coverage ratios.
- ii. The State Water Board's goal of achieving and maintaining "AAA" ratings for both the DWSRF and CWSRF programs.
- iii. The SRF programs' funding capacity and limited to such extent necessary to ensure ongoing funding capacity at consistent or increasing levels to ensure loan funding sustainability.
- iv. Maintaining retained earnings at levels to offset lost capital, should this event occur, and to provide the State Water Board with a cushion of retained earning that support higher than average short-term leveraging, should it desire to pursue an initiative with an SRF program.
- v. The State Water Board's ability to timely disburse bond funds in accordance with any TIPRA requirements or marketing efforts to demonstrate the expeditious use of bond proceeds. The size and frequency of bond transactions shall also be governed by the State Water Board's ability to maximize the timely disbursement of proceeds while minimizing the number of loans receiving debt proceeds.
- vi. The State Water Board's ability to pledge a pool of diverse loans with sufficient credit

quality, size and regional diversity to achieve its goal of maintaining "AAA" ratings for SRF programs. It is the State Water Board's goal to structure the pledge pool so that no borrower constitutes more than 20 percent (20%) of a DWSRF or CWSRF pledged pool to mitigate concentration risk, while simultaneously achieving a pool of diverse borrowers with sufficient credit quality that can be adequately monitored by State Water Board staff and their resources.

2. Cash-Flow Forecasting

Cash-flow forecasting considers shorter-term cash needs associated with the fluctuations and variability inherent in simultaneously financing multiple, independent projects. It should be used to estimate the impacts of events over a shorter time frame, typically three to five years, and should correlate short-term cash needs with the financing and leveraging capacities of the programs. Cash-flow forecasts should consider the following factors:

- Current cash balances and future cash inflows that are made available to finance SRF planning and construction projects, and other eligible uses, including:
 - Federal capitalization grants and their budgeted use for repayable financing, additional subsidy (i.e. principal forgiveness), CWSRF administration allowances and DWSRF set-aside funds
 - Additional capitalization for purposes of SRF State Match, such as general obligation bond proceeds, local match, or other short-term financings
 - iii. Principal repayments and interest earnings on outstanding financings
 - iv. Additional capitalization from the planned sale of SRF revenue bonds
 - v. Investment Earnings net of expected arbitrage payments

- b. Current commitments and future commitments, and their associated outflows, including:
 - i. Current and future project encumbrances
 - ii. Current and projected debt service on revenue bonds or other debt instruments
 - iii. Current & projected reserves for revenue bonds or other debt instruments
- c. Current and projected fees and their effects on SRF cash inflows, including:
 - i. The CWSRF Small Community Grant (SCG) fee-in-lieu of interest
 - ii. The DWSRF Small Community Emergency Grant (SCEG) fee-in-lieu of interest
 - iii. The DWSRF and CWSRF administration feesin-lieu of interest
- B. Resource and Staffing Capacity

The SRF programs' resources and staffing are critical factors in determining how many new funding commitments are possible on an annual basis as well as the size, type and frequency of bond market transactions to support, in part, those funding commitments. It is vital that the State Water Board employ its resources and staff to first meet its existing funding commitments and debt obligations, as well as accurately and efficiently accomplish its existing programmatic priorities when considering future commitments or accepting additional programmatic workload. These programmatic priorities include the tasks listed in Appendix B to this Debt Policy as well as obligations and requirements included in the CWSRF and DWSRF Policies, Operating Agreements, IUPs and other associated federal and state requirements. DFA shall ensure that existing programmatic workload priorities and funding commitments are met by applying sound work-flow management practices supporting the mission of the programs, and ensure that new commitments do not jeopardize DFA's ability to meet these existing programmatic priorities and funding commitments.

Conversely, it is the goal of the State Water Board to maximize its staffing capacity and resources to enable the objectives of this Debt Policy and the overall water quality goals of the State Water Board.

C. Demand Management

The infrastructure and water quality needs in California far exceed what the CWSRF and DWSRF can finance with the available staff and funds. Demand management is an on-going process that attempts to balance the State Water Board's objective of having a consistent pipeline of projects that support its highest priorities and prudent financial management with the applicants' desire for cost-conscious and timely financing of their projects. There are several keys to effective demand management.

- A robust application prioritization or scoring system should (a) help staff identify and focus on those applications that best support the State Water Board's priorities and (b) help applicants evaluate their projects' competitiveness and guide them toward submitting applications that best align with the State Water Board's priorities. The application scoring systems are established by the State Water Board in the SRF Policies, and will be used to evaluate, in conjunction with a target funding level, project applications as part of the annual Intended Use Plans.
- 2. Demand management also needs to support the composition of the SRFs' portfolios. Access to the capital markets at a reasonable cost is important for any long-term financing strategy, and the credit quality of the portfolio is affected by the mix of applicants that request and receive financing. DACs often experience some of the most severe water quality problems, while large, financially stable communities provide a sound foundation for leveraging the SRF programs to increase water quality financing in California. Both types of communities play significant roles in the success of the SRF programs. Portfolio diversification should consider the credit quality of the borrowers that may be used in the pledge pool as well as credit concentration. Geographic distribution of borrowers should also be considered to avoid geographic risk.
- 3. Demand management also requires effective communication with applicants so that they understand the current status of their applications and the status of the program overall. The SRFs' Marketing Strategy and IUPs play key roles in effectively communicating with stakeholders, and ensuring that staff, particularly Project Managers who are often the face of the programs, are up-todate is an important avenue of communication with applicants.

XX. Board Reservation of Authority

The State Water Board reserves the right to use its discretion as necessary and appropriate as circumstances warrant to exempt, waive, make exceptions or request additional provisions to this Debt Policy not otherwise required by law, and reserves the right to change this Debt Policy from time to time.

The Deputy Director of DFA may, in consultation with the Office of Chief Counsel, update and amend the Debt Policy's Appendices and create new Appendices as necessary for administrative or procedural changes not in conflict with this Policy, unless doing so would require additional approval by U.S. EPA, the Executive Director, or the Trustee.

XXI. Acronyms

DWSRF	Safe Drinking Water State Revolving Fund
CWSRF	Clean Water State Revolving Fund
DAC	Disadvantaged Community
DAS	Division of Administrative Services
DFA	Division of Financial Assistance
IRMA	Independent Registered Municipal Advisor
IRS	Internal Revenue Service
IUP	Intended Use Plan
MSRB	Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board
SEC	Securities Exchange Commission
SRF	DWSRF or CWSRF or collectively, the DWSRF and CWSRF
STO	State Treasurer's Office
TIPRA	Tax Increase Prevention and Reconciliation Act of 2005
U.S. EPA	United States Environmental Protection Agency